SEAN ANTONIO KING

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2005-KA-00916-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Charles and a contract of the Charles and the

**APPELLEE** 

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

JULIE ANN EPPS;

504 E. Peace Street

Canton, Mississippi 39046

Telephone:

(601) 407-1410

Facsimile:

(601) 407-1435

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. THE PROSECTION COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT INTRODUCED PRIOR INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS OF NON-PARTY WITNESSES WITHOUT SHOWING SURPRISE OR UNEXPECTED HOSTILITY.
- 2. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO USE THE IMPEACHING STATEMENTS AS SUBSTANTIVE EVIDENCE.
- 3. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERISBLE ERROR IN DENYING KING'S REQUEST FOR A JURY INSTRUCTION AT THE TIME THE IMPEACHING STATEMENTS WERE ADMITTED.
- 4. OTHER PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT EITHER INDIVIDUALL OR CUMULATIVELY REQUIRES REVERSAL BECAUSE KING WAS DENIED HIS STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS, A FAIR TRIAL AND THE RIGHT TO PRESENT AND DEFENSE AND CONFRONT WITNESSES.
- 5. THE PROSECUTION COMMITTED PLAIN ERROR IN COMMENTING ON KING'S FAILURE TO CALL HIS WIFE AS A WITNESS THEREBY COMMENTING ON THE ACCUSED'S SILENCE.
- 6. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE SHOWING THE BIAS OF THE WITNESSES THEREBY DENYING KING HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO CONFRONTATION AND CROSS-EXAMINATION, RIGHT TO PRESENET A DEFENSE AND RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.
- 7. THE EVIDENCE IS SO WEAK AND UNRELIABLE THAT THE COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE CONVICTION.
- 8. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE THAT KING WAS CONVICTED AND SERVED SEPARATE SENTENCES, AND HIS SENTENCE AS AN HABITUAL MUST BE REVERSED.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### (i) Course of the Proceedings and Dispositions in the Court Below:

Sean Antonio King was indicted in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, for deliberate design murder of Andrew J. Brooks on November 20, 2001. C.P. 7.

He was tried by jury and was convicted by "verdict of the jury" signed October 1, 2004. C.P. 82. The indictment was subsequently amended on motion of the prosecution, and King was charged and sentenced as an habitual to life in prison without parole pursuant to §99-19-83, Mississippi Code Annotated. C.P. 16, 28, 84. The trial court overruled King's motion for new trial and judgment notwithstanding the verdict. C.P. 88. King timely appealed the conviction. C.P. 89-90.

#### STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

King has been continuously confined by the Mississippi Department of Corrections since December of 2001. Tr. 40.

#### (ii) Statement of Facts:

On November 20, 2001, Andrew Brooks (aka/QP) was shot to death in front of the Boyz on Main Tire Shop in Jackson, Mississippi. Brooks had gone with Clifton Summers (aka Little Bay Bay) and Willie McCarty (aka Cash Money) to a nearby shop run by Derrick Fields in order to sell a stolen truck or motor. The trial court excluded evidence that they were there to sell stolen property although the information was obviously relevant to disclose a reason for the witness to believe that the decision on whether or not to prosecute them at the time they made allegedly incriminating statements might depend on how well they incriminated King. Tr. 394. *See*, Proposition VI, *infra*.

At some point, Sean King became a suspect because just a few days before on November 16<sup>th</sup>, Omar Thompson, who was King's uncle, had been shot and killed. Tr. 389. The State's theory was that rather than let the Jackson Police handle the matter, King took matters into his

own hands and gunned down Brooks because he erroneously believed Brooks had shot his uncle. Tr. 298-99.

The police questioned numerous people who were in the vicinity at the time of the murder about whether Sean King had been involved. Eventually, four of those witnesses, James Russell, Willie McCarty, Derrick Fields and Clifton Summers testified at King's trial in 2004. In their initial statements given right after the murder, none of these witnesses implicated King in the crime. However, after being told by police that they would be prosecuted as accessories to the murder, the witnesses gave unsworn statements that the state argued at trial contradicted their trial testimony where the witnesses essentially reverted to their original statements—none of which incriminated King.

Clifton Summers, who was sixteen at the time he gave his second statement, gave an unsworn statement that Sean King shot Brooks. Tr. 51-52, 67. As in their first statements, Russell, McCarty and Fields in their second statements did not directly implicate King. McCarty testified he did not see who shot Brooks. The prosecution never introduced any evidence that he had ever said he had.

Fields testified that he saw the person who shot Brooks, but that person was **not** King. He never identified King as the person who shot Brooks in any of his prior statements. He testified at trial that he saw a black Ford Expedition or Explorer with what may have been an Alcorn College tag leave the scene after the shooting. King's wife owned a black Expedition with an Alcorn tag. Fields, however, did not see King in that vehicle. The prosecution played a 911 tape

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State's theory is somewhat confusing because Ledrick Simmons, aka Monkey, was arrested by JPD on November 19, 2001, the day before Brooks' murder, for the murder of Thompson. R.IV/389. Later, in closing argument, the State argued that King killed the wrong man—presumably a reference to the fact that Simmons, not Brooks, had killed Thompson. Tr. 1098. Thus, it is unclear why King had a motive to kill Brooks if Simmons had already been arrested for the murder of Thompson.

by Fields at the time of the crime when he told James Russell that "They were on your lot, that nigger that just left out of here." Tr. 575.

Numerous people fled the scene on foot and in their cars, including Brooks' friends, Summers and McCarty. Tr. 570, 784. Moreover, one of the investigating officers testified that it was not unusual for people to flee a crime scene. Tr. 956.

Prior to trial, Summers retracted his second statement to police in which he stated King shoot Brooks and denied at trial that he saw King shoot Brooks. Tr. 751. Although at first, he denied making the statement saying King shot Brooks, under cross-examination he admitted he made the statement. Consequently, none of the state's "eye-witnesses" testified at trial that they saw King shoot Brooks. None placed him at the scene at the actual time Brooks was shot. No physical evidence connected King to the crime.

Lacking any reliable substantive testimony at the trial to show King's guilt, the state relied on the allegedly inconsistent prior statements of its witnesses as substantive evidence of King's guilt although when first questioned by police, Fields, Summers, McCarty and Russell all failed to directly incriminate King. It bears repeating that it was only after being picked up by the police and threatened with incarceration as an accessory to the murder did any witness give a statement to the prosecution that even remotely incriminated King. Tr. 788-89. Under the guise of impeaching their witnesses, the prosecution used their allegedly inconsistent statements as substantive evidence at King's trial to impeach their trial testimony that he had not been involved and argued that because the witnesses were so scared of King they contradicted their statements, the jury should find King guilty.

Further complicating the trial was the fact that trial counsel, Sanford Knott, had interviewed all four witnesses after each had made the statements the prosecution argued incriminated King and had obtained statements which essentially clarified or recanted their

second set of statements obtained after they were threatened by police with prosecution. Essentially, McCarty, Fields, and Summers provided Knott with statements reiterating what they had said in their first statements made shortly after the crime. Russell denied making a statement to police that Sean King had threatened him. Knott had provided the new witness statements and further discovery regarding what the witnesses would say to the prosecution well in advance of the trial. In other words, at the time the prosecution called the four witnesses at the trial, the prosecution had received discovery from defense counsel and knew that each of the four witnesses had recanted the portions of statements to police that might even arguably be said to incriminate King. Tr. 51-89, 116.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The bottom line is that the only evidence which even remotely implicated King in the murder of Brooks came from prior inconsistent statements of the witnesses. Most of this evidence was either improperly admitted or, if properly admitted, was wrongly used by the prosecution as substantive evidence or as evidence of the bad character of King. Since the only reliable substantive evidence tying King to the crime is his presence at the Tire Shop at or near the time of the offense, the evidence is insufficient to support his guilt. Alternatively, the evidence is so flimsy and unreliable, this Court should grant a new trial.

Next, the trial court and prosecution committed numerous errors regarding the admission of the alleged prior inconsistent statements. Finally, other prosecutorial misconduct and overreaching in examining witnesses and improperly instructing the jury as to the facts and law so infected the trial that this Court should reverse the case because King was denied a fair trial and due process of law.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE PROSECTION COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT INTRODUCED PRIOR INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS OF

# NON-PARTY WITNESSES WITHOUT SHOWING SURPRISE OR UNEXPECTED HOSTILITY.

Although the admissibility of evidence generally rests within the discretion of the trial court, a trial court abuses its discretion where its decision to admit evidence results from legal error. In that case, a *de novo* standard of review applies. *Jones v. State*, 856 So.2d 389, 393-94 (Miss.App. 2003).

Unsworn prior inconsistent statements are generally not admissible as substantive evidence in a criminal case. M.R.E. 801(d)(1)(A). They may, however, may be used to impeach a witness' credibility. M.R.E. 613(b) states:

Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is afforded an opportunity to explain or deny the same and the opposite party is afforded an opportunity to interrogate him thereon, or the interests of justice otherwise require. . . .

Subject to certain exceptions, such statements are hearsay. One of those exceptions is that a prior identification may be admissible as substantive evidence where the person making the identification had an opportunity to view the person being identified. M.R.E., 801(d)(1)(c).

Where a defendant is convicted on the basis of unreliable hearsay evidence, his due process rights to a fair trial and his Sixth Amendment rights to cross-examination and confrontation are violated. Unreliable statements do not satisfy the constitutional demands for admissibility so both the due process and confrontation clauses require exclusion. *E.g.*, *Idaho v. Wright*, 497 U.S. 805, 821 (1990).

King's counsel objected to the substantive admission and improper use of the prior statements by way of motion *in limine*, throughout the trial, and during opening and closing statements. In addition, the trial judge overruled King's request for a cautionary instruction at the time any prior inconsistent statements were admitted. Tr. 53, 89. King's objections to the admission and/or substantive use of the statements were repeatedly overruled. Tr. Supp. 32, Tr.

70, 87-89, 661-89<sup>2</sup>. In addition, King also objected to impeachment of the witnesses on collateral matters, objections to which were again overruled. Tr. 685, 687-98, 1008.

Notwithstanding King's counsel's repeated objections and the well-established prohibition against the misuse of prior inconsistent statements as substantive evidence, the prosecution repeatedly did so in its case against King. In fact, the only prior inconsistent statement which was even arguably admissible as nonhearsay substantive evidence in King's trial was the prior statement which Summers made identifying King as the shooter.<sup>3</sup>

The state, however, argued that all the prior inconsistent statements of witnesses were evidence of King's guilt. See, Opening and Closing Statements of the prosecution and discussion infra on the misuse of the statements as substantive evidence.

This case was continued numerous times at the request of the State before being set for trial in July of 2004. At that time, Derrick Fields and James Russell, who had been subpoened by the prosecution, failed to show up, and the case was again continued. Tr. 39. Both were subsequently arrested as material witnesses. Because they were incarcerated at the time of the trial, they were available for the trial which eventually took place in October of 2004. Tr. 44.

Over repeated defense objections to hearsay and the improper use of impeachment evidence as substantive evidence, the prosecution at trial called five witnesses whom it was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Because of space limitations, King cites to only a few examples of his objections to the testimony and argument. If the state wants argue that King waived his objections to the prior inconsistent statements, he will discuss further examples in his reply brief. King, however, cannot imagine that the state would want to go down that road.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The circumstances of this statement, however, make it so unreliable that its probative value is outweighed by its unreliability. Summers first denied seeing the shooting. After being picked up and questioned by police a second time and told that if he did not incriminate King, he would be charged as an accessory to the murder, the then sixteen year old gave officers an unsworn statement that King was involved. Tr. 937, 941. Under oath at trial, Summers subsequently denied he had a clear view of the killer and that he had said it was King saying that he had been intimidated by the police. Tr. 744, 750, 784. In addition, at the time Summers gave the police the statement about King, he had other pending criminal charges and could in fact have been charged

allowed to impeach with allegations that they had made prior inconsistent statements. Supp Tr. 77, 80, Tr. 70, 97-89.<sup>4</sup> The prosecution then used its version of those statements as substantive evidence of King's guilt. Four of the witnesses were present in the vicinity of the crime at the time of the offense. Those witnesses were, Willie McCarty, James Russell, Derrick Fields and Clifton Summers.

The fifth witness was Rodney Clark, a jail house snitch. In the case of Clark, the prosecution attempted to show that Clark had given a statement to police that King at his preliminary hearing had admitted killing Brooks. Clark steadfastly denied that he had given a statement to police to that effect, and the prosecution never introduced evidence that he had. Notwithstanding, the prosecution argued that the jury should find King guilty because he had confessed to Clark, but Clark was obviously too scared of King to testify to that at trial. Tr. 1092, 1098, 1126.

Even on the written record, the testimony of these witnesses is extremely confusing because over objections by the defendant, the prosecution failed to follow proper procedures for impeaching a witness with a prior inconsistent statement. Rather than allowing the witness to testify and then impeaching with the prior inconsistent statement, the prosecution simply began with its oral version of the allegedly inconsistent statement.<sup>5</sup> Frequently, the prosecution asked

as an accessory to either the theft or receipt of the stolen truck he, Brooks, and McCarty were trying to sell to Fields on the day of the murder.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Because there can be no doubt that King objected to the introduction and misuse of the prior inconsistent statements so that waiver cannot credibly argued as an issue, King will not cite ever instance where he objected. Since virtually the entire state's case was dependent on prior inconsistent statements, King objected throughout the entire trial. The record cites to his objections would be virtually endless in this eleven volume record.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, e.g., questioning of McCarty where rather than allow McCarty to testify, the prosecution asks a series of "Did you tell him [referring to a detective] . . . ?" questions. With the exception of Derrick Fields and Clifton Summers, the prosecution never actually introduced any of the written or recorded version of the statement alleged to be inconsistent. In the case of Fields, the prosecution played the 911 tape of Fields calling the police after the murder. Rather the prosecution in the case of Russell called a police officer prior to Russell's testimony to say he

the witnesses questions in such a way that the prosecutor became an unsworn witness. Reading from statements and asking the witness and asking "do you recall me asking you" or "did you tell me" has been widely condemned as placing the credibility of the prosecutor before the jury. United States v. Puco, 436 F.2d 761, 762 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1971). Moreover, the practice of asking a witness if he made a statement and when he denies it, not introducing evidence that he did has likewise been repeatedly condemned. Walker v. State, 740 So.2d 873, 884 (Miss. 1999); Flowers v. State, 733 So.2d 309, 329 (Miss. 2000).

For example, the prosecution asked McCarty: "Word on the street is that you got some money from Sean. Have You?" King's objection was overruled. McCarty said he had not; however, the implication was that he was lying. Tr. 430. When McCarty said he did not read well, the prosecution asked him, if he remembered talking to the prosecutor and his investigator and asked "Didn't you read the part about the black Expedition and tell us that I don't remember saying that?" Tr. 434. The prosecution embarked on a series of questions based on an out of court conversation he had with McCarty that morning by telephone about coming to court. Tr. 435. "Now, what did I tell you this morning to get you to come to court?" Tr. 435. "So your sister didn't say, 'Let me go get him out of the bed." Tr. 437.

In the case of Russell, the prosecution elicited testimony that he did not come to court because "[s]ome people" told him not to come to court." Tr. 451. "Now the first statement you didn't tell them that Sean King had come to your shop, did you?" Tr. 454. He asked Russell a series of questions about a phone call Russell allegedly received recognizing him and the statement he had given to the police about the call. Tr. 459. He asked Russell a series of

said he received a call from King; in the case of McCarty, the prosecutor himself testified to statements McCarty made to him which he claimed were inconsistent with his trial testimony; in the case of Summers and Russell, the prosecution called police officers to testify about alleged inconsistences but did not introduce their actual statements to the officers. Also, as to Summers,

questions about a conversation Russell supposedly had with the prosecutor and his investigator. After Russell denied that King had called to threaten him, the prosecutor testified "Do you remember telling me and him that he did call and threaten you?" Tr. 462. "Did you say that Sean King said if I know what is best for me I will play right?" Tr. 462. The prosecutor then over objection and despite the fact that Russell never denied making the statement, was allowed to read the second statement Russell made to police sentence by sentence and asked him if the information therein was true. Tr. 476, passim. State v. Moffett, 456 So.2d 714, 719 (Miss. 1984) [cannot utilize extrinsic evidence of statement where admits statement]. The prosecution then embarked on a series of "Didn't you say . . ." questions about his statement that he had received threatening phone calls. Tr. 483, passim.

Moreover, the prosecution was allowed to declare the witnesses to be hostile and lead them. As a result, it is difficult to sort through what the witnesses' actual substantive testimony was because the testimony about what the statements actually were is ambiguous and because the methodology employed by the state implied that the prior inconsistent statements were admitted for their truth.

However, once the testimony of all of the witnesses is reduced to its substantive essence, not a single witness testified **under oath** that King shot Brooks. The best the prosecution could do was to show that Summers had previously in an unsworn out of court statement said King shot Brooks after police had threatened the sixteen year old with being charged as an accessory to the murder. Russell's testimony placed King at Russell's shop near where Brooks was shot about fifteen to twenty to fifteen minutes earlier. Fields' testimony placed someone coming from near Russell's shop at the time of the shooting and a car resembling King's wife's car leaving after the shooting. Finally, the State proved that somebody

[probably Monkey] had shot King's uncle Omar Thompson prior to the time Brooks was shot although at the time Brooks was killed police had already arrested Monkey for the shooting. Fields saw a black Expedition like one owned by King's wife drive off after the shooting.

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