IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SEAN ANTONIO KING

JAN CA 2003 OFFICE CALLSTON SUPER ME OCCUPIER COLLECT OF ADDRESS

NO. 2005-KA-0916

APPELLANT

VS.

ł

ł

1

ł

l

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

King argues that "the trial court committed reversible error in denying King's request for a jury instruction at the time the impeaching statements were admitted." (Appellant's Brief p. 35). However, King did not specifically request that a limiting instruction be given at the time the witnesses were confronted with their prior statements. King's brief cites to page 53 of the transcript after his statement that "King requested that the trial judge instruct on the proper use of the prior inconsistent statements at the time they were admitted. The judge declined to do so." However, the only mention of jury instructions on that page is in a quote from a case defense counsel is reading to the judge. The first time King requested a limiting instruction was at the close of all testimony while jury instructions were being discussed. (Transcript p. 1054). As stated in Russell v. State, "no limiting instruction regarding the impeachment testimony was granted [at the time the witnesses were confronted with their prior statements] in the case sub judice because no limiting instruction regarding the impeachment testimony was requested [at that time]." 607 So.2d 1107, 1117 (Miss.1992) See also Field v. State, 856 So.2d 492, 493(¶ 5) (Miss.Ct .App.2003) (holding that "[i]ssues not raised at the trial court level may not be raised for the first time on appeal"). Thus, King is procedurally barred from this argument on appeal.

IV. KING IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING THE ISSUE OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT; HOWEVER, NOTWITHSTANDING THE BAR, THE PROSECUTION'S CONDUCT AT TRIAL DID NOT RESULT IN SUBSTANTIAL AND IRREPARABLE PREJUDICE TO THE DEFENDANT'S CASE; THEREFORE A MISTRIAL WAS NOT WARRANTED AND THERE IS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR.

King asserts that "prosecutorial misconduct either individual or cumulative requires reversal because King was denied his state and federal constitutional rights to due process, a fair trial, and the right to present and confront witnesses." (Appellant's Brief p. 39). However, King is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal as it was not raised in his motion for new trial. *See Alonso v. State*, 838 So.2d 309, 313 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (holding that the issue in question was procedurally barred even though an objection was raised at trial because the matter was not raised in the motion for new trial) and *Beckum v. State*, 917 So.2d 808, 813 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (holding that the issue in question was procedurally barred as it was not specifically raised in defendant's motion for J.N.O.V. or motion for new trial). Accordingly, the issue is barred.²

Notwithstanding the bar, King is not entitled to a reversal of his conviction and sentence as the prosecution's conduct at trial did not result in substantial and irreparable prejudice to his case. This Court set forth the standard of review with regard to allegations of prosecutorial misconduct as follows:

"Trial courts are allowed considerable discretion to determine whether or not the conduct of an attorney in argument is so prejudicial that an objection should be sustained or a new trial granted." (*citations omitted*). "The test to make such determination is whether the natural and probable effect of improper argument is to

² There are also several specific allegations of misconduct mentioned in King's Brief to which no contemporaneous objection was made including: 1. Prosecution's alleged mischaracterization of the evidence during closing (Transcript p. 1099 - 1101); 2. Multiple allegations of the prosecution acting as an unsworn witness (Transcript p. 434, 435, 451,459, 462 and 454 - objection made on other grounds); 3. Allegations of disparaging remarks regarding defense counsel (Transcript p. 1101, 1102, and 1128); and 4. Allegations of eliciting inadmissible opinion evidence (Transcript p. 948). See Swington v. State, 742 So.2d 1106, 1112 (Miss. 1999) (holding that "failure to make a contemporaneous objection waives the issue on appeal").

create unjust prejudice against the accused so as to result in a decision influenced by prejudice." (*citations omitted*).

Millender v. State, 734 So.2d 225, 233 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). "<u>If a 'prejudicially incompetent</u> <u>matter or misconduct' occurs before a jury, a trial judge should declare a mistrial if the trial judge</u> <u>cannot cure the damaging effect with an admonition or an instruction</u>." *Eason v. State,* 916 So.2d 557, 561 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (quoting *Davis v. State*, 530 So.2d 694, 698 (Miss.1988)) (*emphasis added*).

In the case at hand, the trial judge saw no damaging effect arising from the conduct of counsel as evidenced by the fact that not only did he not declare a mistrial, but he did not give counsel a warning that if their conduct continued that he would declare a mistrial. "[T]he trial judge is in the best position to determine if an alleged objectionable remark has a prejudicial effect." *Bailey v. State*, 956 So.2d 1016, 1035 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)(citing *Steen v. State*, 873 So.2d 155 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)). Furthermore, defense counsel apparently did not feel that the conduct of the assistant district attorneys was such that required a mistrial as he did not request one.

The case at hand was a hard fought case by both sides. Numerous objections were made, tensions were high, and passionate arguments were made. However, any improper comments made were insignificant when looking at the overall case before the court. For example, the Mississippi Supreme Court noted in *Monk v. State*, that "[e]xaggerated statements and hasty observations are often made in the heat of debate, which, although, not legitimate, are generally disregarded by the court, because in its opinion they are harmless." 532 So.2d 592, 601 (Miss.1988) *(overruled on other grounds)*. Had the comments and arguments made by counsel at trial risen to the level of "resulting in substantial and irreparable prejudice to the defendant's case" the trial judge would have declared a mistrial. *See Jones v. State*, 962 So.2d 1263, 1276 -1277 (Miss. 2007) (citing *Sipp v. State*, 936

So.2d 326, 331 (Miss. 2006)) (holding that "the trial court must declare a mistrial when there is an error in the proceedings resulting in substantial and irreparable prejudice to the defendant's case"). "In considering whether a mistrial was warranted, this Court defers to the trial court's determination of whether the defendant suffered any prejudicial effect." *Id*.

Nonetheless, King asserts several examples of alleged prosecutorial misconduct.³ For example, King states in his brief that "most egregious of all in terms of disingenuous legal arguments ... was the prosecution's claim that the prior consistent statements had not been admitted as substantive evidence because the written document had not been entered into evidence." (Appellant's Brief p. 40). However, the case law in Mississippi clearly states that one of the two ways in which Mississippi Rule of Evidence 613 allows for the impeachment of witnesses with their prior inconsistent statements "is by reading the statement to the witness and asking whether that statement accurately reflects the testimony given on the occasion when the statement was recorded." *Everett v. State*, 835 So.2d 118, 120-121 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). This is exactly what the prosecution was arguing that he be allowed to do (read portions of the prior statements into evidence). Thus, the prosecutor's argument was not "disingenuous" or "egregious," and therefore, certainly does not give rise to prosecutorial misconduct.

King also asserts that the "prosecution repeatedly interjected inflammatory inadmissible

³ For the sake of brevity, the State is not responding to each of King's allegations individually; however, the State is certainly not conceding that any instance of conduct asserted by King as being prosecutorial misconduct is such. The State is merely using a few of King's allegations of misconduct as examples to illustrate to the Court that the trial court cured any damaging effect with an instruction or other remedial act and/or that the allegations of misconduct made by King do not rise to the level of "resulting in substantial and irreparable prejudice to the defendant's case" which would have given the trial judge reason to declare a mistrial. *See Caldwell v. State*, 938 So.2d 317, 321 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (holding that "the remedial acts of the court are usually deemed sufficient to remove any prejudicial effect from the mind of the jurors"). Accordingly the trial judge did not commit reversible error in refusing to declare a mistrial *sua sponte* as required by the rule of law set forth above by *Eason v. State*.

hearsay into the proceedings" and specifically referred to the State's use of James Russell's prior inconsistent statements during his testimony. (Appellant's Brief p. 41). As set forth in detail previously in this brief, prior inconsistent statements may be used to impeach the testimony of a witness and the trial court instructed the jury regarding its proper use of these prior statements. As the jury is presumed to follow the instructions of the court, there can be no prejudicial effect.

A final example is King's argument that the prosecution misstated the evidence during closing arguments. (Appellant's Brief p. 40). However, the following is an excerpt of one of the jury instructions given by the court:

Arguments, statements and remarks of counsel are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law, but are not evidence. If any argument, statement or remark has no basis in the evidence, then you should disregard that argument, statement, or remark.

(Record p. 63). This same instruction was given in *Caldwell v. State*, a case in which the prosecutor was charged with mischaracterizing the evidence, and this Court held that:

The remedial acts of the court are usually deemed sufficient to remove any prejudicial effect from the mind of the jurors. (*citations omitted*). The jury is presumed to have followed the directions of the trial judge. (*citations omitted*).

938 So.2d 317, 320 -321 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). As such, any mischaracterization of the evidence during the State's closing arguments did not prejudice the defendant in light of the instruction given by the court.

When counsel's actions do not result in "unjust prejudice against the accused as to result in a decision influenced by the prejudice so created," they will be deemed harmless. *McGowen v. State*, 859 So.2d 320, 347 (Miss. 2003). Mississippi case law is clear that "[a] criminal defendant is not entitled to a perfect trial, only a fair trial." *Powers v. State*, 945 So.2d 386, 397 -398 (Miss. 2006). In this case, the defendant did receive a fair, albeit imperfect, trial. Not one of the alleged

instances of misconduct rose to the level that would cause the trial judge to declare a mistrial. Moreover, King failed to address the issue in his motion for new trial. Thus, King's fourth issue is without merit.

V. THE STATE'S COMMENTS DURING ITS FINAL CLOSING ARGUMENTS DO NOT CONSTITUTE PLAIN ERROR.

King argues that the State improperly referred to his wife's failure to testify during its final closing argument. (Appellant's Brief p. 46). However, King is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal as he did not make a contemporaneous objection nor did he raise the issue in his Motion for New Trial. King, however, asserts that the State's arguments constitute plain error. (Appellant's Brief p. 46). This Court has previously held the following in that regard:

The law is well settled that if no contemporaneous objection is made, the error, if any, is waived. Procedural bar notwithstanding, an appellate court may review the merits of the underlying claim knowing that any subsequent review will stand on the bar alone. A defendant who fails to make a contemporaneous objection must rely on plain error to raise the assignment on appeal. The right of an appellate court to notice plain error is addressed in M.R.E. 103(d). The Mississippi Supreme Court applies the plain error rule only when a defendant's substantive rights are affected. "The plain error doctrine has been construed to include anything that 'seriously affects the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings.' " The plain error doctrine requires that there be an error and that the error must have resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice.

Stubbs v. State, 811 So.2d 384, 387 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (quoting Dobbins v. State, 766 So.2d 29,

31 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)). Accordingly, an analysis of the issue "necessarily includes a determination of whether there is, in fact, "error," that is, some deviation from a legal rule; that error "plain" or "clear" or "obvious;" and it is prejudicial in its effect upon the outcome of the trial court proceedings." *Porter v. State*, 749 So.2d 250, 261 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (quoting *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 732-735, 113 S.Ct. 1770, 123 L.Ed.2d 508 (1993)).

In the case at hand, there was no plain error as there was no error. While, under normal

circumstances it may be impermissible to comment on a wife's failure to testify, prosecutors are allowed to respond to statements by defense counsel. *Sumrall v. State*, 955 So.2d 332, 336 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). *See also Gilliard v. State*, 428 So.2d 576, 584 (Miss. 1983) (*overruled on other grounds*) (holding that although the comments made were improper, the remarks of defense counsel were sufficient provocation to excuse the district attorney's response); *Booker v. State*, 511 So.2d 1329, 1332 (Miss. 1987) (holding that there is an exception "where the objectionable statement [made by the prosecution] was invited or responsive to the statement of defense counsel"); *Manning v. State*, 835 So.2d 94, 102 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (holding that certain types of "responsive reasoning do not overstep the bounds placed upon closing arguments"); *Holmes v. State*, 754 So.2d 529, 538 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999); *Malone v. State*, 486 So.2d 360, 366 (Miss. 1986); *Baker v. State*, 455 So.2d 770, 774 (Miss. 1984). During closing arguments, defense counsel made the following statements:

Detective Richardson before mentioning anything about the murder to [the defendant's] wife, before she knew anything about the murder, said, I was driving the vehicle that week. And then he started talking about a murder. Said, wait a minute. Wait a minute. Of course, you're going to stop and say, wait a minute. You're suspecting me of a murder. She says, I was driving the vehicle that week. There is no evidence to dispute that.

(Transcript p. 1119-1120). The State then responded to defense counsel's statements in its final

closing arguments in part as follows:

He talked about Latonya King saying, I was driving it all that week until he mentioned murder. Did she take the stand? I may have dozed off, but I don't recall her sitting in the this stand and saying anything.

(Transcript p. 1132). The prosecution was merely responding to defense counsel's comments regarding what the defendant's wife said by pointing out that she did not testify to those facts. Defense counsel claimed that there was no evidence to dispute that King's wife was driving the

vehicle in question at the time of the homicide. The prosecution simply pointed out that there was no direct evidence that she was, in fact, driving the vehicle on the day in question. "No reversible error results where a prosecutor's remarks are in response to defense counsel's previous argument." *Bailey v. State*, 956 So.2d 1016, 1034 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)(citing *Brewer v. State*, 725 So.2d 106 (Miss.1998)). Furthermore, "[i]t is well settled that parties have latitude to argue in rebuttal to arguments raised by other parties." *Id.* at 1035.

Moreover, the alleged error was not "plain," "obvious," or "clear" in that not only did the trial judge not notice the alleged error during the trial, but neither did defense counsel. Additionally, defense counsel did not notice the error in retrospect while reviewing the trial in order to prepare his motion for new trial as evidenced by the fact that he did not mention the alleged error in his motion. As such, King's fifth issue does not merit reversal.

VI. KING IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING THIS EVIDENTIARY ISSUE ON APPEAL; HOWEVER, NOTWITHSTANDING THE BAR, THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO ALLOW EVIDENCE OF VARIOUS WITNESSES PENDING CRIMINAL CHARGES.

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